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PREFATORY NOTE.

It should be explained that this pamphlet was originally
intended to be a contribution to the Proceedings of the
World Federation Conference. The Scottish Committee,
however, felt very reluctantly compelled to request
Dr Gennadius to substitute for his full and interesting
account of Education in Greece a very much reduced

summary.

On hearing of this decision, Mr Alexander Sivewright,
a member of the Edinburgh Education Authority, very
kindly offered to defray half the cost of printing the
pamphlet in extenso. This offer was gladly accepted by
the Committee, the members of which take this opportunity
of expressing their hearty thanks to him and to
Dr Gennadius for a contribution which they are certain
will be highly valued by the Delegates.

G. C. P

47 MORAY PLACE,
EDINBURGH, December 1925.
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A Sketch of the History of

Fducation in Greece.

HE unqualified acceptance by Greece of the prin-
ciples of this Federation, and her wholehearted
espousal of its objects, were signalised at the very
outset of the movement by the presence of a

Greek representative at the first Conference in San
Francisco. Indeed it may be said in all truth that these
principles lie at the very foundation of public education
in Greece, which is absolutely unsectarian and free from
any political propagandism. It aims at the formation ot
law-abiding citizens imbued with the conviction that they
and their neighbours have a common interest in peaceful
existence, and stand in need of each other’s friendship.

It may therefore prove conducive to the promotion
of the purposes of this Conference if I submit some
account, however succinct, of education among the Greeks ;
the more so as intellectual culture and physical training,
have been, from time immemorial, the outstanding feature
of Greek social development. It moulded the political
life of the nation, it raised it to the highest pitch of
civilisation, it maintained the race alive in adverse cir-
cumstances, and it made its regeneration possible after
centuries of a barbarous and crushing servitude.

It is doubtful whether any other nation esteemed
education as so primary a concern of the State as the
Greeks held it to be, both in their prosperity, and in their
darkest days under the Turks. In ancient Greece the
principles and the mode of education were debated and de-
termined by the wisest of Greek philosophers, and the
training of the youth was enjoined and regulated by the
laws of all the city states. (1).

Tt was thus that Greece rose in civilisation, freedom
of thought (2), and humanism far above the surrounding
races; and its culture proved so captivating, that we may
consider, not as a form of panegyric, but as a sober
statement of fact, the famous saying of Isocrates, that
Athens had so surpassed all others in intellect and culture,
that her learned men were received everywhere as
teachers and guides, and had made the name of the
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Greeks to signify, not so much the race, as the intellect -
and that those rather were to be called Greeks who had
shared the benefits of Greek education, than those EWS
were merely of a common descent. And this continucd
to be so even during the Christian era; for not only
pagans from all parts of the East, but even some cW.
the Fathers of the Church made their studies in Greece
St. Gregory Nazianzenus has left us a vivid ?9:?..
(Opera ed. Morelli. 1. 328) of academic life in Athens
in the Fourth Century. (3). :

Greek colonists carried civilisation to the furthest
confines of the Euxine, and as far as the Pillars mm
Hercules. The Greek colony of Marseilles became, not
only a great commercial centre, but one of the cis.&wum
seats of learning of that time. The conquests of
Alexander spread Greek culture to the banks of the
Qm:mmmrwsa planted it in the lands of the Indus, therc
to flourish for several centuries. The language of the
Greeks had thus become the common means of inter-
national intercourse all along the Asiatic and African
vo.&m.wm of the Mediterranean, with Alexandria as thc
principal seat of Greek philosophy and literature: and
its cultural influence was so great that there is no ex
aggeration in the statement of Athenaeus (iv. 184):—
P\/,.mmo:\mbmmm ciow of wadeloavres mdvras Tods “ElAyvas kai
Tovs Bapfdpovs.” «“It is the Alexandrians who have
taught all Greeks and Barbarians.

The very Jews of Egypt were hellenised ; (5) Josephus
found Greek to be the one language in swwMow .wo ,Wn:c
their history; and it was through the Greek version of
the Seventy that their Scriptures were made known to
the rest of the world. The New Dispensation was first
heralded to men in the Greek tongue. It was in the
Greek schools of Tarsus (6) that Saint Paul imbibed
that Greek learning which enabled him to become the
Apostle of the Gentiles (7). The Greek Fathers,
nurtured in the philosophy of Plato and Aristotle, for-
mulated the dogmas of Christianity in Greek; the earliest
general Councils of the entire Christian Church debated
in Greek; and the Creed of Christendom was first drawn
up in Greek.

Although the Empire which Constantine founded in
Byzantium—the ancient colony of Megara—was Roman,
Greek culture soon replaced the Latin official tongue;
and we thus witness the unprecedented event of the lan-
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guage and a conquering world power being ousted and
substituted by the irresistible intellectual force of a
subject race. For, as Gibbon reluctantly admits: “ The
subjects of the Byzantine throne were still possessed of
a golden key that could unlock the treasury of antiquity—
of a musical and prolific language, that gives a soul to
the objects of sense, and a body to the abstractions of
philosophy.”

The Schools of Byzantium, having inherited the
unbroken tradition of Ancient Greece, continued to pro-
duce men of liberal learning and culture, and to create
a literature which, however inferior to models that
remain to this day unrivalled and unsurpassed, is in-
comparably superior to the childish chronicles and
monkish records of Western Europe, where men were
still groping their way in a surrounding of clerical
obscurantism and scholastic casuistry. The Arabs, at
the height of their intellectual development, sought in-
struction in the schools of Byzantium (10), and, in spite
of the pretentions and jealousies of the Papal Church,
western scholars repaired to Constantinople for Culture;
while kings and princes sent their daughters to the great
eastern capital to acquire those polished manners and
accomplishments which the western world knew of only
by hearsay.

How immeasurably inferior was the culture of the
self-lauded Westerners, as compared to the much abused
Byzantines, was made manifest during that criminal
buccaneering expedition which goes by the euphemism
of “the Fourth Crusade,” when a band of hungry ad-
venturers were hired by the covetous envy of Venice
for an unprovoked attack on Constantinople. The blind
barbarity of the western noblemen and knights, their
hatred of the “ schismatic” Greeks, not only destroyed
for ever much of the literary and artistic heritage which
was treasured in the city they pillaged and devastated,
but was the main cause of the establishment of the Turks
in Europe. And such was their contempt for every-
thing connected with the literature and culture of the
Greeks, that their rude soldiery (as Niketas Choniates
affirms on irrefragable evidence) paraded the street
carrying paper, pens and books, in mockery of the
Byzantines as a nation of bookmen.

At the final fall of Constantinople to the Turks in
1453, Byzantine education and culture were still so far
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in advance of the rest of Europe, that the learned Greeks
who sought refuge in Italy and France, Demetrius
Chalcondyles, Chrysoloras, Ioannes and Constantine
Lascaris, Musurus, Theodorus Gazes, George Trapezun-
tius, Argyropoulos, Andronicus Kallistus, and others,
became the chief instruments of that marvellous awaken-
ing which is known as the Renaissance, and which pro-
duced a new order of men, the Humanists, A new growth
sprang up everywhere, a new thirst for knowledge, a
new and refreshing sense of truth and beauty, a re-birth
of the Hellenism of old, with its love of light and its
spirit of freedom.

But over the devastated land of Greece herself there
came the stillness of death and the gloom of the
mortuary (11). The blighting steps of the conquering
barbarian trod down every growth of knowledge, and
extinguished all attempts at enlightenment.  The rule
of Islam, founded on a theocratic conception, disallowed
all intellectual development not in accordance with the
precepts of the Koran, and the Imams declared super-
fluous, and consequently a priori condemned, anything
not included in their narrow teaching.

The position thus created is vividly set forth by Dr
Quinn (Education in Greece, Washington, 1898): “ The
simple fact that these Christians were not free men;
that they lived under a government that they regarded
as a punishment from God, and which treated them as
merely tolerated aliens; the fact that no career was,
under ordinary circumstances, open to the scholar save
that which the Church afforded; the fact that the people
were plunged in the abjectest poverty; the fact that it
was a very dangerous thing for a parent to make his
children too atractive by education or otherwise, because
he thus increased the risk of their being appropriated
for some harem or band of eunuchs or janezaries—all
these facts weighed heavily on the cause of education.
: . Instead of not understanding the humble con-
dition of education among the Greeks under Turkish rule,
we are astonished to find so much of education there;
astonished at the vitality of old Hellenism which did not
entirely succumb even to Mahometanism. Hellenism
seemed to be one of those mighty forces of nature which,
when forcibly stopped in its regular flow, will burst out
in outlets into other directions.”

The thirst for learning inate in the Greek, suggested
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many a subterfuge; sacrifices in other directions were
readily made so as to secure the advantages of edu-
cation ; Greek schools emerged again from the surrounding
darkness, slowly, stealthily, in some remote spot or moun-
tain retreat. But there only the merest elements of
education could be imparted—reading, confined usually
to the manuscript books of the early church service, the
Psalms, the Catechism; writing of a sort; and the rudi-
ments of arithmetic.  There were no school buildings;
the scholars met, when the teacher was the village priest,
in the narthex of the Church, sitting crosslegged on some
mat, for there were no benches. Or, if there was no
priest, some villager with a smattering of book-lore,
devoted a few hours to the task. Yet even such poor
equipment was highly prized. The man who could read
and write occupied a prominent position in the community,

being looked up to as ypappariopévos, a “lettered man”;

and the child that showed a vocation for learning was
the object of special attention and pride. To be addressed

as Moyubraros, “most learned,” was the envied reward

of great efforts and sacrifices. But such efforts could
produce, at that time, only partial and slow results. For
a broader and less fettered revival the Greeks had to
look abroad.

The seed which the learned Byzantine refugees had
sown in Italy fructified in 1513 in the establishment in
Rome, under the auspices of Pope Leo X., of the famous
Greek College of St Athanatius. The main purpose of
this liberality was the undeviating endeavour of the
Papacy to proseletise Greeks, in the hope of subjugating
the Orthodox Church to Rome, None the less that college
served to maintain among Greeks the tradition of
learning and to produce as teachers some of those men
who later brought back to the enslaved fatherland the
torch of light.

Similar revivals occurred in other Greek centres in
Italy. Venice had attracted a considerable number of
Greek refugees who gradually formed a flourishing com-
mercial community, and who, adhering to a great national
tradition, founded there a Church and a school. This
school was firmly established in 1593 as a communal
institution and was so maintained till 1701, In the same
city Thomas Phlanghinis, of Corfu, founded in 1664 a
second school which continued till 1795; and the impor-
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tance of the Venetian Greek community had become so
considerable that we find in that city three printing
establishments owned by Greeks, which during the 16th,
17th and 18th centuries produced most of the works
composed by Greeks, and practically all the Service books
used in Churches in Greece and the East.

Three other Greek colleges were established in Pata-
vium during the 17th and 18th centuries, when Padua
had become the seat of a great University. They were
due to the munificence of three wealthy Greeks, Peter
Garphanos, a Cypriote, Gerasimos Palaeocappa, and
Ioannes Cottounios. In these colleges and in the Uni-
versities of France and Germany were trained those
Greeks who became the organisers and teachers in the
more important schools which began now to reappear
in Greece. (12).

The increasing facilities of intercourse with the rest of
Europe, the growth of wealth among the Greeks, con-
sequent upon the development of their trade and shipping,
the more frequent visits of western travellers in Greece,
and, above all, the gradual emasculation of the Turk,
the weakening of his military sway, and his dependence
on Greek intelligence for international relations, rendered
possible the gradual spread of education, and with it
the revival of national consciousness and the unquench-
able thirst for freedom.

The oldest of the establishments which thus became
famous was the school attached to the Patriarchate some
little time after the fall of Constantinople, Up to the
other day it was still flourishing, after having been sup-
pressed during the Greek War of Independence. The
Patriarch had gathered around him such learned men
as had survived the Turkish conquest, and with small
beginnings, founded in the Phanar quarter the institution
which came to be known as the “ Great School of the
Nation,” MeydAy 7ob T'evovs Zxody. In 1804 it was
transferred to Xera Krine (the Dry Fountain—Kourou
Chesmeé) on the Bosphorus; but a few years later it
was brought back to its former site, where in September
1882 it was established in an imposing and richly-equipped
building. Its records speak of several eminent teachers
(13), while it produced some noted scholars and prelates.
Another Greek school, established in Constantinople by
Manolakis, became noted by the fact that Alexander
Mavrocordatos, the founder of the great family of that
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name, who had studied with distinction in Padua and
Bologna, was one of those who taught there.

Turning now to Athens, the ancient seat of light
and learning, we find that after the Turkish conquest,
the first attempt at education was due to Philothea, the
only daughter of the ancient and powerful family of
the Venizeloi. Left a widow, she assumed the veil and
devoted her wealth and her efforts to the succour of the
poor, and the education of young girls. She was way-
laid and beaten to death by some Turks in 1598, and
her remains are now revered in the Cathedral of Athens,
of which city she is the patron saint (14). The great
Athenian family, of which she was so illustrious a mem-
ber, and which still flourishes, produced more than one
of the Greek masters of those times, notably Joannes
Venizelos, and Demetrios Venizelos, of whom Babin (15)
.m.%amww spelling the name, as he apparently pronounced
1T,

The first regularly constituted school in Athens appears
to have been founded in 1647 by Epiphanius Hegoumenos,
a m.w.maw from Venice; and it is no doubt this school in
which Babin found Venizelos teaching. It was still in
existence in 1732, when Georgios Melos of Athens en-
dowed it with a yearly income, intended to support one
teacher and some scholars.

About a century later Georgius Soteres, a monk who
also had studied in Italy, returned to Athens and bought
a house which he converted into a school, and he him-

self taught there the so-called ’EyxtkAu Tpdupara— the

elementary course of studies. In 1782 he left for Con-
stantinople bestowing his school to the Community of
Athens, to be continued as an “Academy of Greek
learning.”

In 1750 Toannes Ntekas, another Greek from Venice,
established another school in Athens, in which Joannes
Venizelos taught. The school flourished until 1797,
when, with the fall of Venice, the legacy of 2000 ducats
which Ntekas had deposited with the Republic, dis-
appeared. But the school itself was saved from extinc-
tion by a subvention granted by one of the Monasteries
near Athens, and it continued to exist up to 1813.

In that year Petrakes, the Abbot of the Monastery
of the Asomatoi (the Incorporeal Angels), which still
exists at the foot of Mount Lycabetus, established a
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School of Medicine in that monastery. It was suppressed
on the outbreak of War in 1821.

The travellers and archeologists who visited Athens
during the closing years of the XVIII. century and the
beginning of the XIX., revivified among the Athenians,
already sufficiently advanced in learning, the apprecia-
tion of the artistic value of the remains of their ancient
glory. By the efforts of three of them, the Society of
the Philomousoi (or Lovers of the Muses) was consti-
tuted in 1812, with the object of protecting the antiquities,
establishing a museum and a library, and founding a
school. They elected as honorary president Capodistrias,
the future Governor of Greece, who was then the power-
ful Minister of the Tsar Alexander. Through his in-
fluence the Emperor of Russia and some of the Princes
of Germany were inscribed as members of the Society,
which included Lord Byron and other Philhellenes.
The outbreak of the Greek War of Independence, which
this Society also had, in a certain way, heralded, put
an end to its activities (16).

Secondary in point of time, but not inferior in im-
portance and in fruitful results were the schools in the
capital city of Epirus, Joannina, that great stronghold
of Hellenism, which Lord Byron found, under the famed
Ali Pacha, to be even more Greek than Athens itself.
Four schools flourished there successively, the first in
the monastery of Spanos, on the little island in the Lake
of Janina; the second founded by Manos Gioumas in
1675 with an endowment of 20,000 ducats, and suppressed
on the outbreak of the War of Independencc in 1821;
the third due to the munificence of the Brothers Maroutsos
in 1742, was closed in 1798; the fourth endowed by the
Brothers Kaplanoi in 1797, was known as the School
of Athanasius Psalidas, the master who had rendered
it famous. This school also was suppressed, but it was
re-established later with an extended scope. In Epirus
we find Greek schools also at Arta and at Lakka of
Delvino.

The establishment of well-organised schools now spread
rapidly in every Greek land. To found some educational
or philanthropic institution in one’s native place became,
for Greeks who had amassed a fortune, a sacred duty
and a title to respect and distinction. Thus schools were
planted in all parts of Greece, at Tyrnavos and Ambe-
lakia in Thessaly, Meliai on Mount Pelium, Salonica and
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Moschopolis in Macedonia (where also a Greek printing
press existed for a short time), Serres and Adrianople
in Thrace, and Demitsana in the mountain fastnesses
of the Peloponnesus. Organised by the monk Agapios
in 1764, this latter school was considered as one of the
best in Greece, and it attracted scholars from all parts
of the country. It still exists, and enjoys the proud
reputation of having fostered Germanos, the Bishop of
Patras, who unfurled the flag of the War of 1821, and
of Gregory the Patriarch whom the Turks, in revenge,
hung at the gate of the Patriarchate on Easter Sunday of
that eventful year. The school of Bytiné (1773-1821)
became also famous in the Morea.

The monasteries of Mount Athos always fostered
learning. But in 1749 the great monastery of Vatopedion
founded the  Athonian Academy ” under the direction
of Eugenius Bulgaris, who had previously taught at
Joannina, and who had acquired fame for his wide
learning. At a later date he was chosen by the Empress
Katherine as Archbishop of Kherson in Russia.

More ancient and no less important was the Greek
school attached to the Patriarchate of Jerusalem. It
was but fitting that the sacred island of Patmos should
also be endowed with a school.

The island of Chios had enjoyed certain immunities
under the Turks; and the enterprising and thrifty
character of the Chiotes soon brought affluence and cul-
ture to the island; so that many a Chiote became dis-
tinguished in letters—foremost among them Koraes,
whose fame and whose connections in France were in-
strumental in endowing the island with a library and a
printing press, and in advancing the fortunes of its
Gymnasium which numbered more than 700 pupils, at-
tracted there from the surrounding Greek lands.  All
this culture was laid waste during the Turkish massacre
of 1822. But Chios is now free again and prosperous,
and its educational and philanthropic institutions are
models of organisation.

The island of Mytilene had also a flourishing school;
while just opposite, on the coast of Asia Minor, there
stood the little Greek town of Kydoniae, so named from
the quince groves surrounding it.  Its prosperity, its
communal administration, and its model Ionian school,
founded by its good citizen Saraphis, were the pride of
the Greeks but an eyesore to the Turks who, therefore,
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massacred the entire unoffending population, and swept
the town out of existence, as soon as the revolution
broke out in the Peleponnesus in 1821. But the name
and memory of Kydoniae remain as an idyl. The fame
of the place had attracted the youthful Ambroise Didot,
of the great French publishing house of that name, who
was on his travels in those parts in 1816. He was the
bearer of a letter of introduction from Koraes, who had
taught him Greek, and he became so fascinated with
the prim little Christian town, its hospitable and gentle
inhabitants, and their model school, that for two months
he sojourned there as a boarder, and with his Greek
fellow students formed a society, the members of which
bound themselves to address each other only in correct
Attic Greek. On his return to Paris he presented his
friends at Kydoniae with a complete printing press, and
in the privately printed account of his travels he gives
the text of the “vow” of the members of the “ Attic
Society ” of Kydoniae.

On the same smiling coast of ancient Ionia, the great
city of Smyrna had remained so thoroughly Greek, that
the Turks themselves, unable to overmaster it racially,
named it in despair “ Giaour-Ismir,” Smyrna of the In-
fidels. ~ There were always Greek schools in Smyrna.
But the most famous scholastic institution, the ** Evangelic
School,” founded in 1743, flourished up to 1922, with
a rich library, a museum, a periodical publication of its
own, and a proud record of brilliant achievement in
scholarship.  The Turks left no trace of it when they
burnt Smyrna in 1922,

In an opposite direction, on her western frontiers, Greece
came into touch with the civilised world through the
Ionian Islands, which had long been under the sway
and the cultural influence of Venice. Thus, of all Greek
lands, the “ Septinsular Union” was the most favour-
ably circumstanced for the spread of education; not that
the Venetian oligarchy looked with any favour on the
growth of Greek ideals; but under a Christian and
civilised, albeit oppressive, Government it was not pos-
sible entirely to stifle enlightenment. The Machiavellian
policy of Venice, was able to prevent the establishment
of purely Greek schools, and imposed the teaching of
Italian; but the attachment of the Greeks to their national
traditions proved ineradicable. In 1656 the so-called

“Academia degli Assicurati” (rév ‘Eénodadiopéver) was
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founded as a private undertaking, and later on that of
“Dei Fertili” (Tovipwv) ; while in 1732 a third “Quos
Phoebus vocat Errantes” (Akadyuia v Hmmbs_.\/ﬁto?mvevv
made a start; but all these institutions proved short-
lived; the machinations of Venice rendering their
existence precarious and their fruits meagre.

The ground, however, had thus been prepared for
a more permanent development. The French, immedi-
ately on assuming control of the Islands (1797-1799),
organised a system of public education, established schoois
in all of them, and in the chief city of Corfu, founded
a military school and a printing press. Their Successors,
the Russians (1799-1815) also patronised education, and
the Plenipotentiary Mocenico struck medals in 1806, tc
be awarded to successful students. Two years later an
“ Akademy ” was inaugurated in Corfu amid great en-
thusiasm, and, in accordance with the precedents of the
French Revolution, the year 1808-09 was renamed the
647th Olympiad.

With the British Protectorate in 1818 more practical
notions prevailed, and the Ionian Greeks, ever more con-
scious and more proud of their nationality, insisted that
their laws and their parliamentary debates should be in
Greek, discarding the use of Italian as the official lan-
guage. The uprising of their brethren on the Continent,
in 1821, revivified the national spirit, and swept away
the last vestages of the Venetian tarnish. The new
movement found a wise guide and a powerful friend in
the person of Frederick North, Earl of Guilford. He
was at the head of the Department of Public Instruction,
and his personal munificence had already endowed with
scholarships several young Ionians who were being trained
in Western Universities as the future Professors in their
own country, the Ionian Constitutional Charter of 1817
having sanctioned the eventual establishment of a higher
educational institution.  Frederic North’s endeavours to
realise his long projected * Ionian Academy” were
opposed by the then High Commissioner, Sir Thomas
Maitland, and by such of the self-styled ““ nobles "—the
reactionaries and obscurantists—as he was able to recruit.
Finally, however, on Sir Frederick Adam succeeding
Maitland, and with the encouragement and support of
George Canning, to whom North had appealed, he was
enabled, on May 29th, 1824, solemnly to inaugurate the

-
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Tonian Academy, he himself assisting as its first « Archon,”
robed in the ancient Greek chlamas, and proud of the
realisation of his noble and benevolent project. Of that
institution, which proved to be the nursery of many an
eminent professor in the future deﬁu.m:% of Athens,
he remained the soul and guide until June, 1827, when
he returned to England, there to die “on the following
October. His rich library he bequeathed to the Academy,
after providing it also with 2 complete scientific equip-
ment. That Academy, merged in 1864 with the Uni-
versity of Athens, stands as a mile-stone in the history
of education in Greece : and the memory of Lord Guii-
ford is revered by the Greeks to this day, together with
that of Byron and others of the glorious company of
British Philhellens.

Beyond the confines of their homelands, the Greeks
had cast deep roots in some of the neighbouring countries
in which, both for political reasons and because of the
identity of religion, they found protection and achieved
wealth. In Odessa, although a minority in respect to
numbers, they mastered the trade and created the pro-
sperity of that port. The need of a school they deemed
as urgent a concern as their commercial pursuits. George
Gennadius, fresh from his studies in Germany, was in-
vited in 1817 to organise the school, thus initiating his
memorable career as the “ Great Master of the Race,”
Méyas 705 Tévous Alddorados. That school continued to
exist until the other day, when the Bolshevists entered
Odessa.

From Odessa Gennadius was called to assume the
direction of the famous School of Bucharest, where, as
well as at Jassy, Greek culture and literature had
flourished ever since the eighteenth century, under the
enlightened auspices of the Greek Hospodars of Wallachia
and Moldavia. They fostered, not only Greek education,
but, being themselves men of Emﬁ:nw and culture, were

lands, and it was under their administration that the art
of printing was first established in that part of the
Turkish dominions.

It was especially in these lands, semi-independent,
unmolested by the interference of Turkish officials,
administered by a small Greek minority distinguished for
culture and efficiency—it was here that the gospel of
Greek freedom was openly preached, and that the seed
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sown by inspired heralds, blossomed forth in strength
and abundance. It was impossible to expound the litera-
ture of ancient Greece without, arousing an irresistible
will to freedom. And it should not be forgotten that
the profession of Master, (Awdoxatos) held by a hallowed

tradition in great honour among the Greeks, was, under
Turkish rule, the only career—for those who did not
adopt the more lucrative but less esteemed pursuit of
commerce—the only career, outside Church preferment,
to which the aristocracy of birth and mind among the
Greeks could aspire. It is one of the most admirable
traits in the Greek character that, to this day, a great
Master holds in the esteem and respect of the peopls
a place much higher than that of the professional poli-
tician. For it was a succession of great masters, men
of high purpose, self-abnegation and spotless lives, who
regenerated the nation intellectually and prepared its
political redemption.  The results of their efforts cul-
minated in the early years of last century, when two
such men stand prominent in the work of raising the
mind and moulding the soul of Greek youth.

Adamantios Coray, born in Smyrna of Chiot parents
in 1748, was educated in Holland and France and r<m.m
in Paris to the end of his days in 1833, too frail in
body and too independent in mind to submit to the terrors
of a life under the Turks. The strength he lacked in
body was centred in the fiery soul which poured forth
those appeals, irresistible in eloquence and persuasive
in logic, dictating civic duty, counselling healthier modes
of education, and laying down the principles of a purer
style in language.

What Coray did from a distance and by the pen,
George Gennadius accomplished at close quarters, carry-
ing on war against the tyrant by word and deed. Coming
of an ancient Epirot stock, he studied in Germany, and
we have already referred to the beginnings of his ‘memor-
able career at Odessa. No other great master has left
his memory so deeply impressed on the national conscience
as he has done by a life-record truly Socratic.  The
anecdotes relating to the marvellous effects of his teach-
ing on the mind of his pupils have become almost a
legend amongst Greeks. The following we_quote from
Dr Daniel Quinn’s admirable paper on “ Education in
Greece ” (Washington, 1898), p. 290 :—
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“ The schools are nurseries of patriotism. The warm
though smouldering patriotism which was so instrumen-
tal in keeping the schools alive, and which was in turn
fostered into intense heat by these same schools, is well
illustrated by an event which happened one day in the
Greek school at Bucharest. George Gennadius was
teaching, and this event is described in the writings of
Alexander Rangabes, who was then present as one ot
Gennadius’ scholars.  Among the pupils were also the
sons of Alexander Soutsos, Hospodar of Wallachia.
Gennadius was interpreting Isocrates’s celebrated Pane-
gyric. The teacher read to his students the old sophist’s
description of the glory and splendour of ancient Athens.
Becoming filled with ecstatic fire, he told the students to
bar the doors. Then, shut in from all contact with the
Turkish world outside, he made a burning comparison
between the greatness of the past and the fallen cendition
of the present. Tears streamed down from his own
eyes and every young Hellene present wept and cheered.
A few months later many of them followed Gennadius
to the war as members of the Sacred Band. Thus ir
was the schools which the dull oppressors allowed to
exist if properly bribed, became each and everyone of
them a radiating point whence the hope of feedom
glinted out. Indeed it was through the literature, and
through the schools, and through the Church that the
flame at last burst out. The young palikars were fired
by the hymns of such as Rhigas, while the mcre en-
lightened were whetted with determination by the writings
of such as Koraes (21), and the teachings of Gennadius.”

Tt was thus that the struggle for freedom was pre-
pared and consumated, not by politicians, but by the great
teachers of the nation; and Mr Quinn concludes :—
“ Gennadius was in the midst of his lecture when a mes-
senger rushed into the room with the news that Ypsilantes
had passed the Pruth. He threw his books into the
fire of the open grate, and rushed off, followed by his
students to join the Prince. The young soldiers of the
Sacred Band were true to the Spartan motto 7 7av, Wwe Tav

and on the 19th of June 1821, four hundred of them lay,
as a first holocaust to liberty, dead in their blood on
the hill slope of Dragachan.” (22).

The revolution was smothered in Wallachia, but had

already broken out in Greece proper, on the memorable
25th of March (April 7th) 1821. The brilliant lights
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that had gradually reappeared in Greece, as so many
centres of learning, were suddenly quenched by the de-
vastating tempest that now swept over the country. All the
schools were either closed or completely destroyed. Not so
the unquenchable love for learning of the Greek people.
Early in the third year of the war, in the spring of 1827,
the National Assembly at Astros voted a resolution call-
ing upon the Government to introduce the Lancastrian
method of teaching throughout the country; and later,
the Assembly of Epidauros, in drawing up the first Cor.-
stitution of Greece, decreed that elementary instruction
be gratuitous for all, at the expense of the State. It is to
be remembered that this was resolved at a time when the
whole of the country was but a smoking desert, because of
the devastations of a war of extermination. All available
resources had to be devoted to the efforts to free Greece
form the Turks; but still local schools for children re
appeared here and there, thanks to the efforts of the
older men and of the priests, who could take no other part
in the struggle. Thus we find that in 1824 a few young
girls were being taught under the very shadow of the
Parthenon, while their fathers were fighting for frec-
dom. (23).

During that year a fresh effort was made to organise
a system of primary education at least. A Committee
of five drew up a scheme, and as a beginning a model,
or “ Central ” school was established at Argos, with Gen-
nadius as director. But the vicissitudes of the War com-
pelled its immediate closure.

One of the Philhellens then in Greece, Colonel the
Honourable ILeicester Stanhope, who arrived in Misso-
longhi in 1823, imbued with the principles of Jeremy
Bentham, was anxious to spread knowledge by means
of newspapers and, concurrently, by means of schools
on the Lancastrian method. His activities, however, in
this direction were not very successful, nor did they en-
list the support of Byron, who was also then at Misso
longhi, and who looked first and foremost to success in
the war. (25).

Meanwhile private initiative had accomplished more
than the provisional Government could undertake in those
circumstances. We find that in 1828, while the war was
raging, there were established and were supported by
various communes in Continental Greece and the islands,
no fewer than twenty-two primary schools.




22

From that time on, educational establishments rapidly
multiplied.  The Spectateur %O.lmﬁ (the very abl:
periodical published by Greeks in Athens during the
Crimean War) in its issue of August 22nd, 1854, containe
a noteworthy article : “ Situation de l'instruction publique
en Gréce en 1829 et 1830.” It shows that while the
entire population of the provinces which went to form
the Kingdom amounted to only some 700,000 souls, no
less than fifteen thousand scholars of both sexes and all
ages frequented fifty-five schools established in the Pelo-
ponnesus, six in continental Greece and forty-eight in the
islands; thus giving an average of 46 scholars to every
thousand inhabitants. The article concludes:—

“ Ainsi, en 1829 et 1830, lorsque la guerre mettait
encore la Gréce 4 feu et 3 sang, lorsque le pays €tait
enseveli d’une extremité 3 l'ature sous ses ruines, et que
la misére écrasait toutes les classes de la societé, l'in-
struction publique recevait néanmoins un développement
tel, qu’il serait peut-étre impossible d’en rencontrer un
exemple dans I’histoire de tout autre peuple placé dans
des circumstances identiques.”

Most noteworthy of the schools established during the
War were those of Oetea, St.-Peter in Kynouria, Tri-
polis, and in the islands of Poroe and Syra. In the
island of Aegina, where the Government of Count John
Capodistrias was provisionally established, there were—
besides the central refuge in which 495 orphans were
maintained—five public schools, and the first gymnasium,
or as it was then styled, Central School, founded in
November 1829, in which Gennadius taught. But the
fervour with which he continued to expound the teachings
of ancient Greek literature in respect to liberty and in-
dividual initiative, was not pleasing to Capodistria’s sur-
rounding, whose conceptions of public instruction were
those of the Tzarist Government. Moreover the Minister
of Education was a certain Moustoxydes, a man of con-
siderable erudition, but a Corfiote imbued with the tra-
ditions of Venice. Thus the Central School was
threatened with closure, when Capodistrias succumbed to
the attempt on his life in Nauplia.

The special Committee, however, which he had ap-
pointed in 1829, bore fruit in respect to primary educa-
tion, in the development of which he took a great interest,
often visiting the lower schools and personally examining
the little children there assembled. (26).

e

o

~—:’{_~:.' “:.5\ s

23

On the arrival in Greece of Kin

e ar; cect g Otho (January 1833
the organisation of public instruction took Mwammaﬂw %oﬂzv
the following legislative measures having been mcnnnm“
sively promulgated : :

6th February 1833, on Primary or Communal Edu-
cation.

uoﬁw.ﬁ.gm% 1834, on Scientific Societies and Antiqui-
ies.
31st December 1836, on Hellenic Schools and Gym-
nasia (Secondary education).
14th April 1836, on the Constitution of the Uni-
versity.
25th January 1842, on the Constitution of the
Rhizaris Seminary.

This body of laws has governed practically to this day
the whole educational system of the Kingdom, with such
modifications and additions as were found to be necessary
from time to time. Provision was also made gradually
for technical, commercial and private schools, and other

educational institutions, of which we shall speak after
the following general remarks.

The whole system of education in Greece is controlled
by the Ministry of Church matters and Public Instruc-
tion, ‘Yrovpyeiov émre 76v ’ExkAnoworkdy kal s Aqpooias
"Exmraideioens, by the supreme Educational Council sitting in
Athens, by certain local Councils, and by the Inspectors
of Schools. This system, which was based on the Ger-
man model, is divided into three great sections—the
Primary or Communal, the Secondary or Middle, and
the Higher or University education—the one leading up
to the other, but each self-contained and sufficient for
those who do not desire or need, to continue the next
higher studies. The teaching is uniform in each grade
through the Kingdom, and it is practically gratuitous
from the lowest step to the highest, the fees payable
in the Gymnasia and the University being very light.
Moreover, there are numerous scholarships provided both
from public funds, and from very considerable educa-
tional endowments. The establishment of private schools
and colleges is free and optional, but they are all
subject to Government inspection, and the curriculum
must be such as to render certificates issued by such
institutions equal in value to those of corresponding Gov-
ernment schools. Books to be used in tuition must, as a

N
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rule, be approved of the Ministry of Public Instruction.
There is hardly any dissent from the established Ortho.-
dox Church in Greece; yet attendance at the Catechism
or the Bible class is not obligatory for pupils whose parents
show sufficient reasons to object. In the lower schools
the day’s work begins after prayer, which is uniform
and unsectarian. The scholastic year begins in September
and ends in July, with short breaks at Christmas and
Easter. Moreover, September is generally consumed in
examining and verifying the qualifications of new appli-
cants for admission, while the last month is taken up
almost completely with the annual examinations. There
are also several feast days to be deducted, so that not
more than eight months ‘in the year remain for actual
tuition. Punishment with the rod is expressly forbidden
by the Decree of December 12th, 1848; nevertheless it
is not entirely absent from the lower schools. Expulsion,

drofo)f] from the upper schools is the punishment in-

mwogm when admonition and reprimand have failed.
Admission is then possible into some other school, but

exclusion, droxlewrpds, shuts all doors to the delinquent

although an appeal to the Ministry is permitted before
the enforcement of a decision which can only be taken
by the concurrence of all the professors of the school.
Special qualifications are fixed by law, and are required,
for admission to the teaching staffs and for professorial
appointments.

Primary Education, known also as Communal, or
Demotic, because of the dependence of the lower schools
originally from the several Communes, is gratuitous and
obligatory for both sexes from the age of six to ten.
The expense was formerly borne by the Communes, with
occasional assistance by the State. But by a later en-
actment (1895) the whole expense, amounting annually
to over seven and a half million drachmae (27) is borne
by the State; the Communes being obliged to provide
suitable buildings, excellent model schools now exist in
most towns. The method of tuition is mainly the Lan-
castrian, and the curriculum of four years’ duration
includes, both for boys and girls :—

1. Wmmmwo:m instruction : (catechism, sacred history,

etc.).

2. Greek, reading, writing, grammar.

3. Arithmetic and geometrical forms.

-t e
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4. Drawing.

5. Elementary natural history.

6. Geography and elementary Greek history.
7. Vocal music. ;
8. Gymnastics.

Communal teachers, AnpodiSdokator, who are both male
and female, must have undergone a three years’ prepara-
tory course in some Training School, Anpoddaokaleiov,

(of which more anon). They used to be appointed directly
by the Minister of Public Instruction, although much de-
pended on the recommendations and often the insistence of
the local Deputy. Transference was therefore frequent;
yet permanence was not rare, and Professor J. Irving
Manatt (28), met with the fine specimen of a teacher
who had presided over the School of Spata, a village in
Attica, for twenty-four years consecutively. But a recent
enactment has transferred all disciplinary powers over
Communal teachers to a Committee of Supervision for
Communal education composed in each Nomos (province)
of the Nonarch, the Gymnasiarch, a Judge and an In-
spector of Schools; and this Committee has the initiative
in proposing appointments, dismissals, or transference,
through the Supreme Council of Education, to the
Minister, who may veto such proposals, but who has
now no right of initiation.

We are told by an English visitor, that Greek children
make a pleasing impression on the stranger : ““ they are
bright and diligent; they learn with great ease and they
are obedient and respectful.” They are examined twice
a year, in February and July, although the latter date
may be altered, if the gathering in of the grain and current
crops interferes with the attendance of the children.
The examinations are always the occasion of family and
communal festivities. During the hot season it is not
a rare occurence to see a village school held out of doors
under some shady tree—usually a plane—the national
tree of the Greeks.

The law of 1895 extended elementary education to the
remotest part of the country, reaching even the nomadic
shepherds of the mountain districts, and introducing with
education modern hygienic habits. In such places, where
it is impossible to maintain a demotic school, a
Tpapparooyoleiov, or an A.B.C. school is established, in

which the teacher need have no special training, but be of
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good moral character and able to teach “the three R’s ”
and the Catechism. He is often the local priest and 1s
subject to the nearest Demodidaskalos.

Parents and guardians are penally responsible for the
attendance of the children at a public or at an approved
private school. When the number of boys and girls in
a communal school (of which there is now at least one
in each commune) exceeds 75, separate schools for boys
and girls are established, and a special male and female
teacher is placed over each of them.

From the small beginnings already noted, the primary
schools in the Kingdom increased rapidly in 1860 to the
number of 498.

In 1868 to 943 with 55,397 scholars of both sexes.
In 1895 to 2119 with 158,640 scholars of both sexes.
In 1910 to 3550 with 233,164 scholars of both sexes.

Of these latter 1305 were for boys and 680 for girls,
while 1565 were rural or “agrotic” (A.B.C.) schools.
Besides these there were 128 private primary schools
attended by 11,990 children of both sexes. This brought
the total number of children receiving a primary educa-
tion to 271,844 and represented 9.31 per cent. of the
total population; and this shows that there was, roughly
speaking, one primary school for every 715 inhabitants.

These figures which are more eloquent than any com-
ment I can add, refer to the old Kingdom. They have
been materially modified on the annexation of the new
provinces after the Wars of 1912-1913 and 1914-1920,
as we shall see in the sequel.

SECONDARY OR MIDDLE MUCOP.HHOZ..

With the exception of primary schools, there was in
Greece, at the close of the War of Independence, no
establishment in which higher teaching could be imparted.
On the close of the War the Central School of Aegina,
already referred to, was made, by the unremitting efforts
of Gennadius, the centre of such instruction and the
nursery of many of the professors as well as of some
of the most distinguished civil servants of the new
State. (29). The lack of qualified teachers had delayed
the formation of Hellenic schools of which only three
existed, in Syra, Nauplia, and Patras, when the law of
December 31st, 1836, was promulgated.

By this enactment secondary education consists of an

- e
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“ Hellenic ”’ school, which has three forms, and a Gym-
nasium, which has four forms—the complete curriculum
thus extending to seven years—after the German model,
which the framers of the law, King Otho’s German
advisers, had in view. Attendance at secondary edu-
cation is not compulsory, nor is it obligatory to continue
the Gymnasium course, after completing that of the
Hellenic school, which latter is a sufficient educational
equipment for superior workmen and others engaged in
such vocations.

In the Hellenic schools the study of the Greek lan-
guage in its more grammatical form is entered upon,
and the subjects taught in the Communal Schools, during
the last two years, are continued and developed. For
Greek, the text-books are Aesop, Xenophon (Anabasis),
Lucian (Dialogues), Plutarch, Isocrates, Homer; during
the third year also Latin, Mathematics (Algebra and Geo-
metry), History and Geography, Natural History, Calli-
graphy and Drawing, and beginnings in foreign lan-
guages (English and French).

A University degree is a necessary qualification
for a teacher in a Hellenic school. ‘EAAqprodi8doxalos.
The head master is called Scholarch, ZxoAdpxns. The
initiative in appointing, dismissing and transferring
teachers in the Hellenic schools, as also in the Gymnasia,
rests with the Supreme Council of Education, as it does
also in the case of Communal teachers.

There is now a Hellenic school in every town of any
importance : in several towns there are two or three.
The following statistics refer only to the territories of
the old Kingdom of Greece, prior to the War of 1912 :-—

In 1871 there existed 114 Hellenic schools with 238
masters, and about 5000 pupils.

In 1895, 240 Hellenic schools with 660 masters and
about 13,490 pupils.

In 1911, 282 Hellenic schools with 900 masters and
about 24,729 pupils (of which latter 3106 were
girls), representing 0.89 per cent. of the entire
population. The annual expenditure amounted
to 2,503,960 drachmae. Of private schools of
this grade mention will be made hereafter.

The Gymnasia supplement the curriculum of the
Hellenic schools and are preparatory to University studies.
A general schedule, or programme of yearly studies, is
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issued by the Ministry of Public Instruction. It is
periodically modified and was developed and extended in
1855, 1867, and 1881.

The four years’ course includes the higher study of
classic Greek, Heredotus, Plato, Thucydides, Pindar, and
the Dramatists, grammar and syntax; Latin (Nepos,
Cwsar, Tacitus, Virgil, Horace); Mathematics (algebra
geometry, and trigonometry); Geography and History
(Greek, Roman, Byzantine, Modern); Natural Science
(zoology, botany, geology, chemistry) ; Foreign Languages,
(French more or less obligatory, English and German
optional).

All the Gymnasia follow the same programme, but
the results vary considerably, in accordance with the
efficiency of the professorial staff, the previous training
of the students, their surroundings and conditions of life,
etc. Each Gymnasium is governed by its own faculty,

under the Gymnasiarch, I'vuvacidpxns, who is himself one

of the teaching body. Most of the gymnasial professors
have been trained in France, Germany or Switzerland,
etc.

At the end of the four years’ course and after passing
satisfactorily a last examination, the student is entitled

to a Dimissorial, *AmoAvrijpioy, certifying that he has com-

pleted his studies. This certificate is a necessary quali-
fication for certain public or private posts, or entry into
the University.

The Government provides the annual expenditure for
the Gymnasia which in 1912 amounted to 1,066,460
drachmae. In places, however, in which the population
is not sufficiently large to justify the establishment of a
Gymnasium, the community in their love for education,
often undertake to provide the necessary funds by the
voluntary contribution of a special tax. Thus in 1896
the people of the town of Nision, in Messenia, levied and
collected for this purpose a tax of one centime on each
oke of figs or grapes produced in the district. (30).

The first Gymnasium was established in Athens in
1836 by George Gennadius, having under him some of
his own pupils whom he had trained as professors.

In 1838 there were only three gymnasia, those of
Athens, Nauplia and Syra. But in 1871 there existed
15 Gymnasia with 94 professors and 1800 pupils, and in
1895, 42 Gymnasia with 94 professors and 5062 pupils.
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A recent law provides for an important modification
in Secondary education. It contemplates the aboliticn
of the Hellenic schools, their place in tuition being sup-
plied by raising the course of the Communal schools to
six years (six forms) and by extending that of the Gym-
nasia also to six years. This enactment,.of doubtful
expediency or benefit, has not yet come into full operation.

HIGHER OR UNIVERSITY EDUCATION.

The University of Athens was instituted by the Royal
Decree of December 21st, 1836, and in accordance with

German custom, it was named after King Otho,’ Ofdvecor
averworiuov. The measure was criticised by some as

premature, considering the then lack of a sufficient num-
ber of qualified professors and of the indispensable
equipment ; but it was generally welcomed with joy, as
bringing the Muses back to their immemorial home, whence
they had been ousted for more than thirteen centuries,
and as constituting the most powerful link of union be-
tween all Greeks the world over.  The original decree
was modified by that of April 14th, 1837, and finally the
official inauguration took place on May 3rd, in the pre-
sence of King Otho and in great state. The Metro-
politan of Athens blessed the undertaking, and the scene
was so affecting, especially after the sufferings of the
terrible War of Independence, that the King and many
of those present were moved to tears.

The ceremony took place in the house oi Kleanthes
(so-called from its owner) situated on the northern slope
of the Akropolis, where the lectures continued for some
time to be given. (31.) No better accommodation was then
available in a town just rising from its ruins. An appeal
was addressed to Greeks in all parts of the world,
and, full of confidence in the future, the first stone of
a new palatial building was laid on July 2nd, 1839, with
only 27,790 drachmae on hand. On November 1841 the
first wing of the new building was occupied. It is now,
in its archaic simplicity, the most imposing structure in
Athens. It was designed by the famous Danish archi-
tect Christopher Hansen.

Equally sanguine were the promoters in respect to the
professorial body. Thirty-two men competent to under-
take university work were needed. @ Were the lower
scholastic establishment to be deprived of their teachers?
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King Otho insisted upon all the most prominent men of
letters in Greece being centred in the University—Mavroc-
gordato, Argyropoulos, Gennadius (32), Apostolides—
and with these such German scholars as had accompanied
him to Greece or were sojourning there—Treiber for
Medicine, Ulrichs for Latin, Ross for archaology, Lan-
derer for chemistry, Constantine Schinas was appointed
first Rector, and Dr Ch. Aug. Brandis drew up the or-
ganisation of the University, which, after the German
model, was divided into four faculties—Theology, Philo-
sophy, Law and Medicine. (33).

On the fall of King Otho the University, by virtue
of the Decree of October 20th, 1862, was renamed
“ National,” and by the Organic Ordnance of July 1911,
was recognised, under Government supervision, as inde-
pendent administrator of its own property, which, mean-
while, had rapidly grown by means of legacies and
endowments.

In 1849 Jonnes Dombolis, a Greek merchant in Russia,
left his entire wealth, to accumulate for sixty years, and
then be devoted to the foundation of a University in
memory of Count Capodistrias. But it was found neither
expedient nor possible to equip adequately two such insti-
tutions in Greece. Therefore the old and the newly pro-
jected University were merged into one “ the National and
Capodistrian University,” the former continuing to receive
a subvention from the Government, and the latter subsist-
ing on its own resources. The annual expenditure of
both together amounted in 1916 to 395000 drachmae.
They are jointly governed by an annually elected Rector,
Hpiravis, and a Convocation, SéyxAyros, of the Professors.
The Law Faculty was divided into two sections, the
Science of Law, and the Science of Politics: while the
Philosophical Faculty is now composed of three sections,
Philology, Mathematics and Physics. The School of
Medicine, again, includes Dentistry and Pharmacy. Each
of the five faculties is presided over by a Proctor, Koapijrwp,
and all five have seminaries, ¢povrieripia, attached to them.
The body of Professors of each of these proposes candi-
dates for vacant chairs to the Minister of Public Edu-
cation, who may veto the proposals, but has no right of
initiation. Up to 1882 the professors were appointed
directly by the Government.

Another class of instructors are the “Yénynral, or
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Lecturers, who occupy a position similar to that of privat
docenten in the German Universities. They lecture as

freely as the full professors, Kafyyyrai, but are not paid,

and must choose hours not already occupied for pro-
fessorial lectures. It is a kind of novitiate for the post
of professor, and those who aspire to it must submit
to the Dean of the school, in which *hey propose lectur-
ing, a doctor’s diploma, and a habilitations dissertation.
It these are approved of by the iaculty, the candidate
is given a day on which to deliver a Tri.l Lecture.

At the outset, in 1837, the Theological faculty num-
bered three Professors, the Philosophical fourteen, Law
seven, and Medicine eight. In 1911 the entire staff
consisted of 155 professors and lecturers.

With regard to actual students, ¢pouryral, their number

did not exceed fifty-two during the first year; but the
pupils of the highest class of the Gymnasia, and persons
of repute and of some attainment, who were desirous
to attend the lectures, were also enrolled as auditors,

Axpoatai.  Among the 75 who availed themselves of this

privilege, it was inspiring to notice several of a mature
age, government officials, and men of some leisure, who
reminded one of the old days of Greece, when, not age
or station, but love of learning attracted disciples to the
philosopher. The number of regular University students
increased rapidly; in 1847 they amounted to 250, in 1857
to 490, in 1867 to 1217, in 1887 to 2978, and in 1911 to
a total of 3358, of whom 110 were enrolled in the Theo-
logical faculty, 252 in the Philosophical, 171 in the Mathe-
matical, 1819 in that of Law, and 176 in that of Medicine.
Of this total number again, 800 came from T urkey, Egypt
and other centres of Greek life. For it should not be
forgotten that the University of Athens was the only
such institution in Eastern” Europe, and that almost
all the physicians, lawyers, etc, in those parts are
sons of the Athenian Alma Mater. Not only Greeks,
but, especially during the epoch anterior to the seventies
of last century, Roumanians, Bulgarians, Serbs, and Al-
banians flocked to Athens in search of University In-
struction.

When the fiftieth anniversary of the foundation of
the University (35) was celebrated in 1887 it was com-
puted that during that half century 14.029 students had
been enrolled in its registers. In 1890 women students
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were, after some hesitation, admitted to follow the courses,
and with equal opportunity to qualify for a degree. The
first two such Degrees for Medicine were conferred with
high honours, dpwrae, on two sisters from the Island of

Cephallonia in 1897. Greek women are noted for their
literary and artistic aptitude; and their admission to Uni-
versity studies has been marked with success and bene-
ficial results.

Students leaving the Gymnasia (or such private schools
in Greece as are recognised equal to the Gymnasia) with
a satisfactory Dimissorial, may enter the University with-
out submitting to the preliminary examination which other
candidates must undergo. The great Greek educational
institutions which existed in Turkey were, since 1862, re-
cognised as equal to the Gymnasia. They were the Great
National School at Constantinople, the Theological and
the Commercial Schools of Chalke, the Zosimaean School
of Joannina, the Theological School of Jerusalem, the
Evangelical School of Smyrna, the Gymnasia at Chios,
Samos and Mytilene, those of Heraclion, Kydonia and
Neapolis in Crete, and those of Salonica, Bitolia and
Pilippopolis. Thus the University of Athens became the
great Hellenic intellectual centre, whose light radiates to
every corner of the Greek world. (36).

After enrolment, which takes place at the beginning
of every semester, a student is free to follow such lectures
as he pleases, unless he becomes a member of a laboratory
or a seminar, when he must fulfil the tasks imposed or
recommended to him by the professor. For the rest,
the use he has made of his opportunities will tell at the
examinations for a degree, for which two sets of studies

are necessary,the so-called general studies,l'evica Marjpara.
and the special branch of science for which he desires
to qualify. For general studies he may present himself
after two years. But for a doctor’s degree, AwdakTopikal
"Egerdoes, he must have completed a four years’ course.
The degrees conferred are that of Licentiate in Theo-
logy. IlpoAirns @eodoyias, of Master in Philology, and of
Doctor in Philosophy, Law or Medicine. In Pharmacy
a Diploma, but no degree is conferred. —The Master’s
examinations, Awdaockadikal ‘Eferdoes, or 'Eferdoes ‘EAAnvo-
ddackdlwy, are open to those who have completed a two
years’ course in the faculty of philosophy and have suc-
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cessfully passed the examination in general studies. The
candidate is examined in Greek, Latin, Archaology, and
Mathematics.

To obtain a diploma in Pharmacology, the candidate
must have completed three years in the University, and
have already passed a written examination in botany,
chemistry, pharmaceutical chemistry, physics, mineralogy,
and geology, as well as on the subject of his experiments

in the laboratories of chemistry and pharmaceutical
chemistry.

On obtaining his degree as a Doctor of Medicine, a
student must practise in the City Clinic for nine months,
and then follows a further examination for the permission
to practise, llpaktikai 'Eéerdoess, which are heavy, and
include medicinal jurisprudence and midwifery.

Those who leave the University after completing their
studies but without obtaining a degree are known as
TelewodidakToL.

The conditions of examination for the doctorate, and
the method of such examination, were first determined
by the Decree of 19th May, 1842. But six years elapsed,
from the foundation of the University, before a candidate
presented himself. Anastatius Goudas, a native of Joan-
nina, was the first to be proclaimed a Doctor of Medicine
in the year 1843. He later became known as the author
of the lives of illustrious Greeks during the Revival,
before and during the War of Independence.

The fees payable at enrolment and examination were
originally merely nominal. They have been gradually
increased, but remain comparatively light.

Up to the beginning of this century honorary degrees
were bestowed very rarely; the Theological faculty had
conferred about a dozen, the School of Law only two—
on Leon, Gambetta in 1879 and on Zacharia von Lin-
genthal, the great authority on Byzantine Law in 1884—
and the School of Medicine one, on Professor Rudolf
Virchow, in 1879,

Besides the munificent legacies with which the Uni-
versity has been endowed from time to time by patriotic
benefactors, in whose memory the University celebrates
‘each year a solemn Liturgy on the 30th January, the
feast of the three great Hierarchs (Saints Chrysostome,
Gregory and Basile), various donors have established
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yearly contests ’Ayaves, dywvoferiay, which are open not

only to students, but to all comers. They are judged
by “the University which awards prizes resulting from
funds deposited for this purpose. ~ The first of such
contests was the Poetry contest, established in 1850 by
Ambrose S. Ralli of Trieste. It continued up to 1860,
and was revived in 1862, by Mr J. Voutsinas of Odessa.
The Philological contest was founded in 1860 by Mr
M. P. Rodocanachi, also of Odessa. From time to time
other contests were inaugurated such as on Christian
ethics, on the Moral training of the people, on the History
of the Greek language, on Dramatic Art; and an anony-
mous lady set a prize for the best treatise on works
against the Papacy. The Koréyyews, ’Aydv was established
by Dr Lotting, a distinguished physician of Boston

The University is richly equipped with those auxiliary
establishments, without which it could not serve its pur-
pose efficiently.  Its own library, already considerable,
has been merged with the National Library, which was
first founded by George Gennadius at Aegina, side by
side with the Central School, and was later transferred
to Athens. It is now housed in the marble palace
erected on the southern side of the University square,
while the northern side is occupied by the resplendent
edifice destined for an Academy (38) and now serving
partly as the depository of the Numismatic Collection,
which has been formed almost entirely by private gifts,
and which already ranks as the fourth or fifth in im-
portance in Europe.

To the rear of the University there rise two other
large buildings, one containing the Physiological, Anthro-
pological, and Pathological Museums, and the other the
various laboratories—of chemistry, of experimental
physics and pharmacy, the phytological, histological,
microbiological, pathological, anotomical and botanical.

Clinical work in the medical faculty is carried on in
the Municipal Hospital and the Lying-in Hospital; while
for Opthalmic medicine the Eye Institute, which is in
close proximity to the University, offers every facility.
On the outskirts of Athens, beyond the Keramikos and
on the Sacred Way leading to Eleusis, are situated the
Botanic Gardens, popularly known as “ Kaseki’s,” from
name of the Turk who owned that ground before the
Revolution.
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On the Hill of the Nymphs, west of the city, there
rises the elegant building of the Observatory, erected in
1842 at the expense of the late Baron Sina, a wealthy
Greek banker in Vienna. Under its first Director, Dr
Julius Schmidt (up to 1884), it produced valuable scienti-
fic results which have been added to by his successor
Dr Aegenites.

A training school (Aackadeiov) for communal teachers

was established in 1834 in Athens, but was abolished in
1864. In 1876, however, it was replaced by the Ecole
Normale, founded by the munificence of the late M.
Maraslis of Odessa. Two similar schools, at Trikkala
and Corfu, are subordinated to it, and in each a three
years’ course is prescribed.

The education of women was systematised by the
foundation of the Society of Friends of Education,

B dexmadevticn  Erarpela, thanks chiefly to the efforts of Gen-

nadius. At the outset, in 1837, its model school con-
tained only 70 pupils, most of whom became communal
teachers. In 1840, when it was endowed by the Greek
merchant Arsakes with a stately building in Athens, the
attendance had risen to 250, in 1874 to 1380, and in 1912
to 1500. The Society, which is now richly endowed
(its budget amounting in 1910 to 515,601 drachmae),
has established branch schools in Corfu (1868), Patras
(1891), Larissa (1902), and elsewhere in Greece.  The
curriculum is similar to that of the Hellenic schools and
the Gymnasia, with special courses for girls.

The Polytechnic School, IloAvrexveiov, tentatively estab-

lished in 1837, was originally intended to encourage the
fine arts—sculpture, painting and architecture—and
tuition was given only on W:smm%m and feast days.
Gradually its scope was extended and regular professors
were appointed. In 1863 and 1874 it was re-organised as
a school of both the fine and the industrial arts. It is
housed in a stately building, the gift of Sturnares and
Tositsa, rich Greeks, natives of Epirus, with a staff of
.twenty-five professors, five assistants, and some 400
pupils.

The first seminary established in Athens was the
Rhizarian School, in 1842, so called from the two brothers
Rhizaris, natives of Epirus, who, on the advice of their
countryman Gennadius, bequeathed the whole of their
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wealth for that purpose. This school has produced some
of the most learned prelates in Greece. There are now
three other theological colleges with 25 teachers and 127
pupils. In the Piraeus, the port of Athens, there are two
excellent evening schools for mechanics, with a three
years’ course.

In taking stock of educational activity in Greece,
‘mention must be made of six commercial schools with
46 teachers, 366 pupils; of a high school for agriculture
in Athens with two others in Larissa and Salonica; of
several night schools for workmen; of evening schools
for poor children under the auspices of the Literary
Society, “Parnassus”; of an Ecole Normale for gym-
nastics; of a shooting school; and of other such institu-
tions, maintained mostly by private bequests. ~Mention
should also be made of the Odeion, an establishment
similar to the French Conservatoire, for the purpose of
training actors, singers and musicians, the latter chiefly
as teachers of church choirs and in primary schools.

There exists private schools of all grades up to the
gymnasium standard, which are subject to (Government
inspection. The principal one of these is the Varvakeion
Lykeion with 28 teachers and 350 pupils. = There are
also commercial and nautical schools under private
directorships.

The total number of secondary schools amounted in
1911 to 379, with 31,751 pupils (boys and girls), re-
presenting 1.21 of the population.

As already stated, the statistics and the information
hitherto set forth refer to the old Kingdom of Greece.
The results of the Wars of 1912-13 and 1914-20 doubled
both the territorities, greatly increased the population,
and largely developed the organisation and the educa-
tional activities of the State, Unfortunately the abnormal
conditions which unavoidably prevailed during the Wars,
and the troubled times which followed and still continue,
.owing especially to the exchange of populations and to
the unprecedented inrush of close upon a million and a
half of refugees, have rendered next to impossible any
precise data or statistics of the progress in the new pro-
vinces of the educational system which is being gradually
applied there. The following figures, however, may be
relied upon :

There are now in the whole of Greece 1562 Communal
Schools for boys, 1099 for girls, and 4875 for boys and
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girls taught together. If to these are added some 600
such schools quite recently established in Thrace, we
obtain a total of about 8000 Communal Schocls attended
by 342,472 boys, and 227,185 girls, to which must be
added 11,156 infants of both sexes attending A.B.C.
schools, namely a total of 581,513 pupils with 6930 male
and 3689 female teachers.

The Middle or Secondary education consisting of 430
Hellenic Schools, 107 Gymnasia, 11 Lyceums, 26 Train-

ing Colleges, and 26 other various institutions claim
85,942 scholars.

The various Faculties of the University were attended
in the school-year just closing by 8789 students, of whom
the Theological and Philosophical Faculties claimed 1323,
Law 4067, Medicine, Chemistry and their branches 2839,
and Mathematics and Physics 560.

The various fees paid by them to the University,
which in 1918-19 amounted to 1,483,165, rose during last
year to 8,515,259 Drachmae. This, in itself, is eloquent
of the extraordinary rush (observed also in England) for
University training, even when allowance is made for
the rise in the fees payable during these latter years.

N.B.—Of the matter contained in this paper, the minor por-
tion which relates to the organisation of education in the former
Kingdom of Greece is on the same lines as the article I contri-
buted to that standard work, Messrs Pitman’s Encyclopaedia
and Dictionary of Education, some three years ago.
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NOTES.

1. Both Plato in the Laws and Aristotle in his Politics dwell

upon this matter specifically and at great length; and
Greek literature is replete with references to it.

2. No Greek city, even under the most absolute of “tyrants,”

ever sank to a condition so humiliating as that of Rome
under the Empire, when, as Tacitus relates (Life of
Agricola), not only authors were done away with, but
their very writings were delivered into the hands of the
executioner to be publicly burnt in the Forum; and he
concludes: “ We would have been deprived of memory
together with the power of speech, if it were possible
to forget, as it is to be silent.”

3 The schools of Athens were finally closed by Justinian in

4 So

529. But learning was not entirely ousted from the city
of Minerva. It revived later, and in 1240 we find John
Basing, a Benedictine monk of St. Albans, and afterwards
Archdeacon of Leicester, being taught Greek in “the im-
mortal city” by the daughter of the Archbishop Michael
Akominatos, Constantia, who, though not yet in her
twentieth year, had attained to great learning. She was
styled by Master John “a second Katherina,” and he
affirmed that, although he had been a student in Paris,
it was from her that he acquired whatever he knew, not
only in Greek, but in science also. ~On his return he
brought back a large number of books and introduced
into England the Greek numerals of which Matthew Paris
(who records these facts) gives a detailed account, deeming
them superior both to the Latin notation and to the
Arabic numerals, which, however, did not come into
general use until a considerable time later.

also with the French humanists, when to be proficient in
Greek was an enviable distinction, and when “un Grec”
signified “un homme habile dans la connaissance du Grec”
(Littré), and hence, to be efficient and clever in something :
“ &tre grec en quelquechose, y étre habile” In the French
literature of that time we constantly meet with such phrases
as: “Nous sommes un peu Grecs sur ces matiéres-13; cet
homme n’est pas grand grec” (he is not very capable);
“qu'il s'avise de parler latin, j’y suis grec”; even; “ma
marraine était grecque sur ce chapitre-13.” Gradually, as
in the case of many other words in all languages, the
reference was narrowed to games and especially cards,
which had later on become, in France especially, a uni-
versal passion. But there is no record of any native Greek
being then in France, or becoming notorious in the game.
It was ignorance of the history of language which mis-
took the term as one of opprobrium; and in the same mis-
taken sense it infiltered into English, along with the intro-
duction of other French social fashions at that time.

5. Of
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these Jews it is said (John XIIL. 20-23) that “there were
certain Greeks among them that came up to worship at
the feast,” and that when they asked to see Jesus, our
Lord answered: “The hour is come that the Son of Man
should be glorified,” referring thereby to the importance
of His Gospel being propagated through the Greek tongue.

6. Strabo (XIV. 5. p. 673) says that such was thé eagerness of

the inhabitants of Tarsos for philosophy and general cul-
ture that they surpassed the Athenians and Alexandrians
and all others, and maintained schools of all kinds for
intellectual training. Tocabry 8¢ Tols év6dde dvfpdmois crovdh
wpds Te THY Puhogoplar kal THr AN\ éyklkhov dracay madelav
yéyover, Ba0 VwepBeSAnrTac kal *Abfnvas kal ’ANefdvdperav, kol e

-

Twa d\\ov Témov duvatdv elmetv, v @ oxohal kal Sarorfal TOWK
Phogbpwy kal 7@y Noylwy yeyévac. In Antioch, also there were,
as in Alexandria, a library, a mouseion and schools, which
flourished especially after that city was christianised. In
Syria we also find famous Greek schools of law, namely
in Beryttos (Beyrout), which, however, were destroyed by
the earthquake of 551.

7. There is a considerable body of literature in support of the

8. St

belief, now more prevalent, that our Lord spoke, and
often taught in Greek. The first important treatise on
the subject was Dominici Diodati’s De Christo Graece
loquente, printed in Naples, 1767. It was re-issued with a
preface by Orlando T. Dobbin, London, 1843. Later works
are the two of Professor Alve. Roberts, Greek the Lan-
guage of Christ and His Apostles, London, 1888, and A
short proof that Greek was the language of Christ, Paisley,
1893.

Basil's treatise on the benefits to be derived from the
reading of ancient Greek authors: Ilpds Tods w»éovs, wis
dr ¢ 'ENMjrwv dpeloivro Néywv wapalvests, is a convincing
illustration of the love of the Greek Fathers for classic
truth and beauty, in strong contrast to the fear and hatred
of all Greek on the part of the obscurantist papal ecclesi-
astics who prohibited Greek books, often inscribing on
them, as a warning, “ Graeca sunt non leguntur.”

9. First director (Nowopiraf) of the law school was Joannes

Xiphilinus, of Trebizonde, who afterwards became Patri-
arch of Constantinople. The great work of the Codifi-
cation of the Laws then accomplished, served as the basis
of all later civil codes; and the “Roman Law " still taught
in Universities is so called because it originally became
known to the West in Latin. Zacharias van Lingenthal
the great authority on Byzantine law, has pointed out
that the Law School of Bolonga, which later won fame,
was modelled on that of Constantinople. Space will not
here permit me to enumerate the services rendered by the
Byzantine schools in every other branch of knowledge,
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theology, history, grammar, rhetoric, mathematics, astro-
nomy, medicine, which Gibbon’s blind hatred of Christian-
ity and of the Greeks hindered him from recording.

10. During the reign of the Emperor Theophilus (829-842) the
Khalif Al Mamoun sent a special embassy asking that a
certain Leon be allowed to go to his capital as teacher.
Leon was then a comparatively obscure man in Constanti-
nople, but even as such he was prized by the Arabs.

11. In 1573 Martin Crusius, Professor of Greek in Tubingen,
entered, after some difficulty, into correspondence with
certain Greek ecclesiastics, eager to learn what had become
of the Greek nation, whether it had survived, and whether
there still existed such a place as Athens. This corres-
pondence he published in his Turcograecia (Basel, 1584),
which remains to this day a treasure-house of information
on the state of the Greeks at that time. Even at a later
date Lanremborgius (Graecia Antiqua, 2nd ed.. 1661) wrote
disparagingly : “Fiat quondam Graecia, fuerunt Athenae:
nunc neque in Graecia Athenae, neque ipsa Graecia est.”

12. An account of the organisation and of the curriculum of
the schools, which began then to be re-established, will be
found in Alexander Helladius’s Status praesens Ecclesiae
Graecae, 1714.

13. Among others the commentator of Aristotle Theophilus
Corydaleus, who taught there when Cyril Loukar was
Patriarch.

14. A sketch of her life was first published in Venice in 1775,
accompanied by the Office which is said in her honour on
February 19th. Some of her letters to the Patriarch of
Constantinople are treasured in the National Library in
Athens.

15. Pére Jaques Paul Babin, a Jesuit, visited Athens about 1650,
a few years before J. Spon, who published, at Lyons, in
1674, the report which Babin sent to his Superior: Re-
lation de Pétat présent de la wville d’Athénes, ancienne
capitale de la Gréce, batie depuis 3400 ans.” This exceed-
ingly rare little volume was reprinted in 1854 by the Comte
de Laborde. At pp. 55, Babin says that he met a Greek
priest who had some knowledge of Latin and that the
Archbishop of Athens was a scholar. He continues:—
“T1.éloquence et la philosophie n’en sont pas entiérement
bannies, et j’ai parlé au Signor Dimitry Beninzelos, qui
avant appris I'une et lautre dans I'état de Venise, en
faisoit des lecons dans sa patrie & deux ou trois auditeurs
seulement.”

16. For an account of the Schools of Athens see, Ta é ’Abjvaus
mpéra oxo\eia in the ‘EBdouds of November 10th, 1885.

17. Notes d’un wvoyage fait dans le Levant en 1816 et 1817.
Paris, 1821

18 A fairly accurate list of all the Greek schools existing in

41

the cighteenth century is given by the priest George Fat-
seas in his I'papparich Pewyoaguch, Venice, 1760, 3 vols.

19. There is reliable evidence that Lord Guildford had also
joined the Orthodox Greek Church, see I. Ilpocarévdov,
"Avécdora xetpbyoapa dpopbyvra THv kard TS dbypa Tiis *Opfodbtov
‘Exk\nolas Bdwricw 7od "Ayyhov ¢AéENNyos Kéugros Tuigpbpdov,
Corfu, 1879.

20. To celebrate the fiftieth anniversary (1817-1867) of the
foundation of the school the following historical sketch
was published by Ch. Voulodemos, the director and one
of the pupils of Gennadius: H mpdrn mevrykovraernpls Tis év
"0dn00¢ ENNqrepmopikiis ExoNds, 1817-1867. "By 0dnooy, 1872,

21. "Adapdvrios Kopafis in Greek; but he himself wrote his
name, in Latin character, Coray, instead of Koraes.

22. Dragachan was a monastery a few miles distant from Rimnik
in Wallachia.

23. mawmﬁﬂw HHWM@%.QQQEQ%% Tob 1824 év ’Ab4vauis in ‘EfdoudasTof Oct.

24. The Lancastrian (or as styled by the Greeks) dA\jhodidarriki,
the mutual or reciprocal) system of tuition, so called from
Joseph Lancaster (1778-1838) was first made known to the
meor.m by George Cleovoulos of Philippopolis, who became
acquainted with it while studying in Switzerland, and who
in a short "Exfesis meol 7is dAAqhodidaxrwkiis Mefbdou pub-
:.mraa at Jassy in 1820, introduced it in the schools of that
city and of Bucharest. It was set forth in greater detail
in the ‘Odnyés translated from the French and published
for the first time in Acgina in 1830, by S. P. Kokkonis
then director of primary education. This method had
m_no.m&\ been introduced into the Ionian Islands by Ath.
Politis in 1821.

25. Greece in 1823 and 1824 being a series of Ictters and other
documents on the Greek Revolution, hy Colonel Spencer
Stanhope, London, 1825

26. See To Taueior 7fHs Aquorwsis Ilaidelas, i ‘EBdoud
October 26th, 1886. Fahil sl

28. “ Behind Hymetius” in Atlantic Monthly, May 18%4.

29, See PMrmov ‘Twdvvov Abyos "Ohvumiaxds, Athens 1871, p. 28-29,
where it is also stated that by his efforts scholarships were
secured for the best of his pupils, who were sent to Ger-

many to complete their studies and return to Greece as
Professors.

30. In illustrating this extraordinary thirst for education of the
Greek people Mr Quinn remarks: “In order to seize the
ma<w43mm of an education the hardy young Greeks, especi-
ally in the provinces, often endure hardships that would
take us shiver. The writer once visited four brave lads
that were staying in Sparta for the winter in order to
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attend the gymnasium there, as their own native place bad
none. They had rented a small house consisting of one
room with the ground for floor. He came in upon them
as they were at dinner; the only food they had was 2 pot
of macaroni cooked by themselves. Other than the four
young heroes, the only bright thing in that 10om was the
little stack of books they took bashful pride in showing me.”

31. The first regular lecture was given on May 22nd by Professor
Ludwig Ross, a Dane by birth, on the Acharnanians of
Aristophanes.

32. Gennadius soon resigned. On King Otho expostulating, he
replied : “If we all make a jump for the Uuiversity, who
will take care of the lower schools? They are equally
most important.”

33. There was also considerable difference of opinion as to the
designation suitable for the new institution. The similar
establishment at Cordu had been styled “ Academy.” But
>Akadpula in Greek expressed something different. “EXro-
wovoelov, Avkewov, PpovTioTHOWOY, WETE mcmmn.\wﬁm&. T av8idaxripLov
conveyed better the idea, but was rejected as rather an
awkward term. Ilavemoriuor was finally decided upon
as expressing all that is implied in the * Universitas
Litterarum et Scientiarum” of the West.

34. Ludwig Ross published an account of the founding of the
University in Putz’s Deutscher Musewm, 1853. It is re-
published in Otto Jahn's ed. of Ross’s Erinnerungen in
Griechenland, Berlin, 1863.

35. The 75th anniversary of the University was again celebrated
with even greater splendour, the whole of the Greek world
taking part, and representatives of almost all European
Universities attending. The two memorial volumes pub-
lished on those two occasions are recorded in the Biblio-
graphy.

36. “ The sons of the unredeemed Greeks have shown themselves
worthy of the concessions made to them. They appreciate
the blessings of education even more than do those raised
in the Kingdom of Greece. You can perhaps find no such
village in the country under the Crescent, be it in Europe
or in Asia, or in Africa, without finding the poor rajah
saving up his groats in order to send a son to Athens to
study.” Quinn.

37. An old Cretan, Barnabas by name, being anxious to help
the University, but possessing 1o wealth, presented the
astonished Rector with his pistols and his yataghan, with
which he had laid low many a Turk. And a poor knife-
grinder bequeathed to the University all he possessed—
twenty drachmae.

38. Both these superb buildings, entirely of Pentelic marble and
in the purest classic style, have been designed by Theophilus
Hansen, the famous architect of the Rath-Haus and other
buildings in Vienna, and younger brother of the Architect
of the University.
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